))))

))))

\_

PHILLIP	DYLAN	HOLLAND,		
Petitioner,				
vs.				
STATE OF FLORIDA,				
Respondent.				

۲,

Ż

....

2

CASE NO. 68,320

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender

MARGARET GOOD Assistant Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit 224 Datura Street/13th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-2150

Counsel for Petitioner.

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

2

.

2

This Court has accepted discretionary review jurisdiction to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, affirming the summary denial of petitioner's Rule 3.850 motion without an evidentiary hearing. References to the record in the "R" District Court will be designated by use of the symbol followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. The pages will be referred to as though that record were consecutively numbered, which it is not. References to the original trial transcript will be designated by use of the words "Trial Transcript" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Petitioner, who is the movant in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal will be referred to herein as petitioner. The respondent, STATE OF FLORIDA, will be referred to as the state.

-1-

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

t

ŧ

On July 7, 1986, this Court accepted conflict jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District in petitioner's case in <u>Holland v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 596 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). The district court's decision affirmed the summary denial of petitioner's Rule 3.850 motion even though the district court found that petitioner was technically entitled to an evidentiary hearing under <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1985).

In 1981, petitioner was charged by a one count indictment with premeditated murder of George Blumish. He pled not guilty, proceeded to trial by jury and was convicted as charged (R-6, Petitioner's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief). Petitioner took a direct appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, which affirmed without written decision. <u>Holland v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1984).

On October 29, 1984, petitioner filed a pro se motion for post-conviction relief in the Circuit Court alleging two grounds: denial of effective assistance of counsel in that, "Counsel for the defense on representing [petitioner] stated to the jury, prior to their rendering a verdict of [petitioner's] guilt or innocence that I was guilty"; the second ground asserted fundamental error in the trial court's allowing the jury to go home during their deliberations, which ground had also been asserted on direct appeal.

In July of 1985, petitioner filed a writ of mandamus in the district court asking that the trial judge be ordered to rule on

-2-

his previously filed motion for post-conviction relief (R-13, Motion for Leave to Proceed in Forma Pauperis for petition for writ of mandamus or alternative writ, R-15-17). In his petition for mandamus petitioner alleged he had repeatedly attempted to have the trial court hold an evidentiary hearing during the times that he had been returned to Broward County to testify in federal proceedings.

2

÷

ź,

On January 17, 1985, the trial court had entered an order requesting the Office of the Public Defender in Broward County and the State Attorney's Office to respond to petitioner's motion for post-conviction relief which had previously been filed (R-25).

Thereafter, petitioner filed a pro se motion for an evidentiary Hearing and a Request for Appointment of Counsel stating that he was being aided by inmate legal assistants, had no ability to argue his case on his own, believed he had presented a meritorious claim and that an evidentiary hearing and substantial research were necessary which required the appointment of counsel (R-26-27). On or about November 1, 1985, the circuit judge entered a two page written order denying petitioner's motion for post-conviction relief on both grounds (R-37-38, Petitioner'sAppendix - 2-3). The court did not attach any portions of the record which might demonstrate that petitioner was not entitled to any relief.

Petitioner timely filed his appeal to the district court on November 15, 1985, along with Statement of Judicial Acts to be Reviewed. Number 10 of the Statement of Judicial Acts specified

-3-

that the trial court erred because counsel's argument to the jury that petitioner was guilty violated <u>Young v. Zant</u>, 677 F.2d at 799 (11th Cir. 1982) (R-4).

In accordance with the rule, no briefs were filed with the district court. On January 15, 1986, the court entered its decision in this case which read as follows:

Mr. Holland's motion for post-conviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure was denied without an evidentiary 3.850 Holland appeals, contending that he hearing. was entitled to a hearing under authority of Morgan v. State, 475 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1985). Facially, Holland is correct. However our review leaves us convinced that the error was harmless according to applicable criteria and that no purpose would be served by remanding for a hearing. Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981) and Recinos v. State, 420 So.2d 95 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). See also Section 924.33, Florida Statutes (1984). Affirmed.

Holland v. State, 484 So.2d 596 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

Petitioner requested an extension of time in which to file a motion for rehearing, which was granted by the district court (Petitioner's Appendix - 24).

On February 5, 1986, petitioner filed his motion for rehearing or rehearing en banc arguing the merits of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing since the trial court had failed to attach copies of the record to show that petitioner was not entitled to any relief. (Petitioner's Appendix - 5-23).

Petitioner's motion for rehearing was denied (Petitioner's Appendix - 5, Denial of Motion for Rehearing).

-4-

Petitioner timely filed a Notice of petition for review in the Fourth District Court of Appeal to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction under the Florida Constitution. Petitioner served his pro se Brief on Jurisdiction on February 26, 1986. On July 7, 1986, this Court determined to accept jurisdiction and appointed the Public Defender of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit to file petitioner's brief on the merits.

4

.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

÷

Petitioner's motion for post-conviction relief stated a facially sufficient claim which the trial court could not deny without attaching portions of the record or holding an evidentiary hearing. It did neither. The district court then erred and placed itself squarely in conflict with <u>Morgan</u> by ruling that petitioner was entitled to an evidentiary hearing under <u>Morgan</u> but that the error was harmless. There is no basis for the district court to hold the error harmless without reviewing portions of the record of the trial proceedings or an evidentiary hearing to determine whether petitioner's defense counsel had conceded petitioner's guilt in closing argument to the jury in violation of petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT ON APPEAL

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF PETITIONER'S 3.850, WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, AND WITHOUT ANY ATTACHED PORTIONS OF THE RECORD, TO REFUTE HIS CLAIM THAT COUNSEL'S CONCESSION OF HIS GUILT AMOUNTED TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

In its decision affirming the summary denial of Holland's 3.850 motion, the district court said that facially Holland was entitled to an evidentiary hearing under Morgan v. State, 475 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1985). Like Morgan, petitioner here filed his 3.850 motion before the January 1, 1985, amendments to the rule took effect. The Florida Bar re: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure (Rule 3.850), 460 So.2d 907 (Fla. 1984). Morgan v. State holds that a facially sufficient 3.850 claim, not refuted by the files and records of the case, entitles the defendant to an evidentiary hearing. No other procedures may be utilized by the trial judge in initially considering whether to deny a facially sufficient motion. As in Morgan, the trial judge here called for a response by the state (Original Record from District Court at 24) to resolve a disputed issue of ineffective assistance of counsel, whether "counsel for the defense on representing [petitioner] stated to the jury, prior to their rendering a verdict of guilt or innocence that [petitioner] was guilty." (District Court Record at 9, Petitioner's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief).

-7-

This claim that defense counsel conceded the defendant's guilt at trial states a facially sufficient basis for postconviction relief under ineffective assistance of counsel. Allen v. State, 482 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). For petitioner to be technically correct, as the district court found, that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing under Morgan, his 3.850 must have stated a facially sufficient claim which the trial court denied without attaching portions of the record that conclusively demonstrated petitioner was entitled to no relief. In Allen v. State, supra, the district court reversed a summary denial of such a claim for the trial judge to attach portions of the record showing the defendant was entitled to no relief or to hold an evidentiary hearing. Under Morgan, the district court was precluded from drawing the conclusion, as it did based on Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981) and Recinos v. State, 420 So.2d 95 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), that the error was harmless without reviewing an evidentiary hearing or without reviewing any attached portions of the record. No portions of the record were attached to the trial court's order and no evidentiary hearing granted or held so Morgan precluded the district court's disposing of the trial court's procedural errors by terming the denial of an evidentiary hearing "harmless."

2

There is no record support for the district court's conclusion that the error in denying the hearing is harmless. In order to affirm the trial court's finding that but for the concession on page 812, the entirety of closing argument does not reveal

-8-

concession of guilt (Petitioner's Appendix at page 2), the district court would necessarily have to review those portions of the record that support the trial judge's conclusion.

.

The trial court's order refers to a comment of defense counsel conceding the defendant's guilt which appears at 812 of the transcript but the order denying post-conviction relief otherwise found that defense counsel had argued vigorously against a finding of guilt (Petitioner's Appendix at 2). On rehearing to the district court, petitioner pointed out that the defense counsel had conceded that the defendant was guilty of third degree murder at page 849 of the trial transcript (Petitioner's Appendix at page 8). Even though petitioner had asserted justifiable homicide and lack of intent to steal the limousine as his defense in his trial testimony (see Petitioner's Appendix - 17,19-22, Motion for Rehearing). Defense counsel's argument in closing that the defendant committed murder while stealing the limousine conceded all facts necessary to find the defendant guilty of first degree felony murder during a robbery:

> Now even if you believe everything the state presents and has presented and you believe all our arguments, you still only have someone trying to steal a limousine that's worth \$50,000, and therefore, committing grand theft, and therefore, guilty of third degree murder. Even if you believe everything the State presents, there is no evidence whatsoever that he intended, or premeditated or planned to commit a robbery or first degree murder, but if you even think he wanted to steal that limousine, that's grand theft. And that's third degree murder, if you intend to steal something over \$100 and in the course of it someone dies and it's not justifiable.

> > -9-

So even in the best case and analysis, even if you view everything their way, he tried to steal the limousine. <u>He's only guilty of third</u> <u>degree murder</u>, but I ask you to look closely at the evidence and analyze it and take your time. Remember how we talked during jury selection about how you should take your time.

(Trial Record at 848-849, Petitioner's Appendix at 17).

The district court concluded that the error was harmless because under <u>Palmes</u> even constitutional error restricting presentation of evidence, or under <u>Recinos</u>, such a denial of the Sixth Amendment right to consult with counsel during a recess in the defendant's direct testimony, may be harmless. Here, there was no record basis to conclude that the defense attorney's argument was otherwise vigorous and that if considered in its entirety argued against guilt. Perhaps the district court's conclusion that the error was harmless was a finding that it was alright for the defense attorney to concede guilt because the defendant was guilty. Both conclusions of law would be error on this record under the decision of <u>Morgan v. State</u>.

A defense attorney's error of conceding the defendant's guilt may be considered per se reversible error even though defendant's counsel only admitted guilt of a lesser-included offense. State v. Harbison, 337 S.E.2d 504 (N.C. 1985). In <u>Harbison</u>, the defendant was charged with second degree murder but maintained he acted in self-defense. Although one of the defendant's attorneys had argued in closing for a not guilty verdict on justifiable homicide, his co-counsel had argued that the defendant was guilty of manslaughter. The Supreme Court of North Carolina held that "ineffective assistance of counsel per

-10-

se in violation of the Sixth Amendment has been established in every criminal case in which the defendant's counsel admits the defendant's guilt to the jury without the defendant's consent." <u>State v. Harbison</u>, at 507-508. See also, <u>Commonwealth v. Street</u>, 446 N.E.2d 670 (Mass. 1983), where counsel abandoned a valid insanity defense and argued for a lesser of second degree murder was found to be ineffective in leaving the client "denuded of a defense." <u>Id.</u> at 673. <u>Commonwealth v. Westmoreland</u>, 446 N.E.2d 663 (Mass. 1983).

.

At the very least, the trial court here was required to hold a hearing or attach portions of the record of closing argument to resolve contested factual issue: was defense counsel's concession of guilt at transcript page 812 and further concession of guilt of third degree murder at transcript page 848, as pointed out by petitioner on rehearing, the only concessions of guilt<sup>1</sup> and were those that occurred a substantial concession of petitioner's guilt in violation of his Sixth Amendment rights? In petitioner's case, an admission that the murder occurred while the defendant was trying to steal the limo is a complete concession to all facts necessary to find guilt of robbery and thus defendant's guilt of first degree murder under the felony murder rule. Petitioner's defense of justifiable homicide in the fight with the limousine driver was hardly a meaningful defense when

Petitioner's appellate counsel would argue that throughout closing argument trial counsel refused to argue against first degree felony-murder (robbery) because it was not charged in the indictment and that a concession of guilt of third degree theft-murder is tantamount to a guilty plea but the district court record does not contain any trial transcript of the closing arguments of counsel.

the defense attorney conceded, contrary to the defendant's testimony, that the defendant was in the course of stealing the limousine when the driver died (Appendix at 17, Trial Record at 849). Since justifiable use of deadly force is not an available defense to a person engaged in committing a robbery, counsel's concession that petitioner was committing a theft when he justifiably stabbed the limo driver, was a denial of ineffective assistance of counsel. See <u>People v. Hattery</u>, 488 N.E.2d 513 (Ill. 1985) (Counsel's reliance on the unavailable defense of counsel).

э

A defense counsel's concession of the defendant's guilt to the jury, where the defendant had a plausible defense to malice murder that he killed the victim out of heat of passion and where the defendant had a plausible defense to robbery, that he did not form the intent to steal or rob prior to the fatal assault, is ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Young v. Zant</u>, 677 F.2d 792 (11th Cir. 1982). Under the new bifurcated procedures for trying capital cases, there can be no possible discernible reasons for conceding the defendant's guilt. <u>Francis v. Spraggins</u>, 720 F.2d 1190 (11th Cir. 1983).

Nor did the trial court attach portions of the record to demonstrate any consent on petitioner's part to his counsel's concession of the defendant's guilt of first degree felony murder. In <u>Wiley v. Sowders</u>, 647 F.2d 642 (6th Cir. 1981), the Court held that defense counsel may not stipulate to facts which

-12-

amount to a functional equivalent of a guilty plea and that such conduct amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. Consent to counsel's argument that the defendant is guilty may not be presumed from a silent record nor obtained without the protection of an on-the-record inquiry required by <u>Boynkin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969), <u>Wiley v. Sowders</u>, <u>supra</u>. Where defense counsel's strategy to concede guilt is totally at odds with the defendant's plea of not guilty, the defendant's consent may not be presumed from a silent record. People v. Hattery, 488 N.E.2d 513 (II1. 1985).

Other states have also adopted the <u>Wiley</u> rule, that defense counsel may not present argument which is the functional equivalent of a plea of guilty without showing on the record that the defendant consents to such argument. See <u>People v. Fisher</u>, 326 N.W.2d 537 (Mich.App. 1982). <u>People v. Carter</u>, 354 N.E.2d 482 (Ill.1st DCA 1976), <u>People v. Duke</u>, 395 N.Y.S.2d 200 (1977). <u>Commonwealth v. Street</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Commonwealth v. Westmoreland</u>, <u>supra</u>, which find that although counsel may stipulate to a particular element of the charge or issue of proof if he believes it tactically wise, his argument may not amount to a functional guilty plea. See also <u>State v. Caldwell</u>, 671 S.W.2d 459 (Tenn. 1984), adopting the <u>Wiley</u> rule but finding the facts asserted there did not amount to a concession of the client's guilt.

In <u>State v. Wiplinger</u>, 343 N.W.2d 861 (Minn. 1984), the Supreme Court adopted a similar rule of per se reversible error as did the North Carolina Supreme Court in State v. Harbison.

-13-

There the Minnesota Court held that if defense counsel impliedly admits a defendant's guilt without the defendant's permission or acquiescence, then the defendant should be given a new trial even if it could be said that the defendant would have been convicted in any event. Although <u>Wiplinger</u> was a direct appeal, appellant's claim is clearly cognizable here on a 3.850, <u>Allen v.</u> <u>State</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Florida courts do not consider claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, <u>State v.</u> <u>Barber</u>, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974), <u>Williams v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1983). Claims should first be presented to the trial court before they may be presented to a court of appeal. <u>Capers v.</u> <u>State</u>, 433 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

In conclusion, petitioner's motion for post-conviction relief stated a facially sufficient claim which the trial court could not deny without attaching portions of the record or holding an evidentiary hearing. It did neither. The district court then erred and placed itself squarely in conflict with Morgan by ruling that petitioner was entitled to an evidentiary hearing under Morgan but that the error was harmless. There is no basis for the district court to hold the error harmless without reviewing portions of the record of the trial proceedings or an evidentiary hearing to determine whether petitioner's defense counsel had conceded petitioner's guilt in closing argument to the jury in violation of petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Where a capital defendant by his testimony as well as his plea seeks a not guilty

-14-

verdict, the defense counsel, even though faced with strong evidence of guilt, may not concede in closing to the jury that the defendant is guilty. <u>Francis v. Spraggins</u>, <u>supra</u>. The decision of the district court finding the error in petitioner's case harmless should be guashed, reversed and remanded for petitioner to be granted an evidentiary hearing on his facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, petitioner requests this Court to quash the decision of the District Court of Appeal and remand with directions to hold an evidentiary hearing on petitioner's facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.