OA	10-30-86	
IN THE	SUPREME COURT OF	F FLORIDA	/
PHILLIP DYLAN HOLLAND,	)	SEP CON	
Petitioner,	)	Ry manuel and a second	
v.	)	CASE NO. 68,320	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) )		
Respondent.	)		

### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

)

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32301

RICHARD G. BARTMON Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 Tallahassee, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District appropriately and correctly ruled that the trial court's technical violation of Rule 3.850, <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u>, in ordering the State to respond to Petitioner's post-conviction motion, did not contribute reversible error. Specifically, the Fourth District's opinion did not conflict with <u>Morgan</u>, but merely applied harmless error analysis as authorized by statute, to the trial court's use of a procedure technically unauthorized by Rule 3.850, <u>supra</u>. The Fourth District's ruling appropriately affirmed the trial court's ruling, as supported by the complete motion, files and Record in the case, that such Record conclusively demonstrated that Petitioner was not entitled to relief, on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### ARGUMENT

DISTRICT COURT APPROPRIATELY DETERMINED THAT TRIAL COURT'S TECHNICAL VIOLATION OF RULE 3.850, <u>FLA.R.CRIM.P.</u>, IN ORDERING STATE TO RESPOND TO POST-CONVICTION MOTION, DID NOT PREJUDICE PETITIONER SO AS TO RE-QUIRE A REMAND FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Petitioner has maintained herein that the Fourth District committed reversible error, in affirming the trial court's denial of Petitioner's post-conviction motion without an evidentiary hearing, on a harmless error basis. However, Petitioner's argument is nothing more than an attempt to bootstrap a claim of substantive prejudicial error, from an arguably technical violation of Rule 3.850, <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u> (1984), that amounted to a non-prejudicial nullity for all practical purposes. As such, the Fourth District's ruling, and interpretation of this Court's decision in <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1985), was appropriate and correct.

The Fourth District initially observed, in its opinion, that Petitioner's claim of entitlement to an evidentiary hearing, under <u>Morgan</u>, <u>supra</u>, was "facially ... correct". <u>Holland v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 596 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986)(RA, 1). This evidently reflects a conclusion by the Fourth District that, under <u>Morgan</u>, the trial court's ordering of a response by the State to Petitioner's post-conviction motion, went beyond the limits of the "old" version of Rule 3.850, <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u> (1983), which "limits the court's initial consideration to the [post-conviction] motion and the 'files and records of the case'". <u>Morgan</u>, at 582; <u>The Florida Bar re-</u> <u>Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure (Rule 3.850)</u>, 460 So.2d 907, 908 (Fla. 1984). However, as the Fourth District's appropriate reliance on

- 6 -

harmless error analysis reflects, the State did not file a response, and the trial court's November 1, 1985 Order demonstrates its appropriate reliance on the "motion, files and Records" <u>only</u>, in resolving Petitioner's claims. (R, 37); Rule 3.850 (1983), <u>supra</u>. Thus, the Fourth District's holding reflects the mere technical, non-prejudicial nature of the trial court's ordering of a State response, when such was not the appropriate procedure, under the pre-1984 amendment version of Rule 3.850. <u>Morgan</u>, at 682.

Thus, this crucial distinction between the present proceedings, and Morgan, supra, compels the conclusion that the Fourth District's ruling was appropriate. It should initially be noted that the Morgan decision was predicated on the trial court's ordering of a State response to a post-conviction motion; the State's filing of such a response; and this Court's conclusion that, absent consideration of the State's response, summary denial was not conclusively supported by the Record. Morgan, at 682. The absence of such a response, and the limited consideration by the trial court herein, to those Records and criteria authorized under the old post-conviction rule, are crucial distinctions supporting the Fourth District's ruling.<sup>1</sup> As can be seen from the 1984 Amendment to Rule 3.850, the purpose of said change was to provide an opportunity to the State and the trial court to respond to a post-conviction motion, and present or suggest allegations and arguments enabling the trial court to deny such motions without the necessity for evidentiary hearings. Toler v.

- 7 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Such distinctions serve to substantiate Respondent's position, which it now reiterates, that no "actual conflict" was demonstrated by Petitioner on this issue, between this case and <u>Morgan</u>. See Respondent's Brief on Jurisdiction, at 5-6.

<u>State</u>, 11 FLW 1918 (Fla. 1st DCA, September 9, 1986); Rule 3.850, <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u> (1985); <u>The Florida Bar re-Amendment to Rule 3.850</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 909; Rule 3.850, <u>supra</u>, <u>1984 Committee Note</u>. Without the State's filing of a response, the trial court's consideration of the motion, although procedurally and/or technically deficient because of its order directing a State response, was substantively and correctly resolved, by appropriately authorized procedures. Rule 3.850 (1983), <u>supra</u>.

Thus, the mere ordering of a State response, which clearly had no effect on the trial court's denial of Petitioner's postconviction motion, since not based on review of unauthorized pleadings, was correctly interpreted by the Fourth District as <u>not</u> constituting prejudicial error to Petitioner's substantial rights, or otherwise affecting the trial court's ruling on the motion. <u>Recinos v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 95, 98 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982)(<u>on rehearing en banc</u>); <u>Palmes v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 648, 653, 654 (Fla. 1981); §924.33, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1970); <u>Holland</u>, 484 So.2d, at 596. Thus, Petitioner's contentions that the Fourth District needed to review an evidentiary hearing, or portions of the Record, in order to characterize the error as harmless, Petitioner's Brief, at 8, appears to misinterpret the nature of the error found by the Court, in view of <u>Morgan</u>, and its resulting effect as a procedural nullity on the outcome of the trial court's order.

Additionally, Petitioner's misconception of the nature and effect of the trial court's error, as determined by the District Court, has led to his erroneous conclusion that the Fourth District's ruling constituted a finding that Petitioner was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Petitioner's Brief, at 8. This position is at odds with Morgan, upon

- 8 -

which Petitioner relies for its challenge of the ruling by the District Court. In Morgan, this Court, faced with the denial of a post-conviction motion, without an evidentiary hearing, under unauthorized consideration of a state response, did not conclude that such a denial was tantamount to a finding that an evidentiary hearing was required. Morgan, at 682. Instead, this Court concluded that, "without reference to the State's response", the motion and Records did not warrant a summary denial. Id. Thus, this Court's independent evaluation of whether the defendant therein was conclusively not entitled to relief, without regard to the offending procedural error, Id., contradicts Petitioner's position that Holland stands for the fact that improper consideration of a State response automatically amounted to a finding that an evidentiary hearing must be held on a post-conviction motion.<sup>2</sup> The result in Morgan, and the Fourth District's adoption of Morgan in Holland, leads to the conclusion that an evidentiary hearing cannot be denied on the basis of the particular procedural error involved. Petitioner's erroneous conclusion, that an evidentiary hearing must necessarily be held, on the basis of a necessary conclusion that the claim is not conclusively susceptible to denial, on the merits, is an overbroad and incorrect interpretation of Morgan.

Applying the <u>Morgan</u> analyzis, and its interpretation of the former version of Rule 3.850, it is clear that, without reference to the direction of a response from the State, Petitioner's motion, and the Records and files in this case, <u>does</u> conclusively demonstrate that Petitioner was not entitled to relief. Morgan, at 682; Mann v. State, 482

- 9 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In fact, there would not in <u>Morgan</u> have been any need for this Court to conduct such an analysis, which is essentially in the nature of review for harmless or reversible error, if Petitioner's argument was tenable.

So.2d 1360, 1361-1362 (Fla. 1986); <u>Porter v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1985); <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985). Petitioner's initial contention was that his trial counsel was ineffective, by virtue of allegedly conceding his guilt during closing argument. Contrary to Petitioner's <u>present</u> position, there is clear, unequivocal Record support for the District Court's affirmance of the trial court's conclusion, that no ineffectiveness was shown on this ground. (RA, at 1).

As shown by the entirety of defense counsel's closing argument, as specifically examined and referred to by the trial court, defense counsel did not concede his client's guilt. (TR, 771-813; 837-850). Said argument consistently reflected defense counsel's strategy to pursue a defense of justifiable homicide, based on self-defense, from opening argument on. (TR, 649-653). Defense counsel placed Petitioner on the stand, and elicited testimony, relative to self-defense, that the stabbing occurred during a fight with the victim. (TR, 663; 669-681, 684, 695-697). Defense counsel's closing argument focused on the presence of reasonable doubt created in the State's evidence. (TR, 732-777); the lack of credibility of a key State witness (TR, 772-782); and the evidence which purportedly substantiated Petitioner's innocence and/or alleged defenses of self-defense and justifiable homicide, and was allegedly consistent with his testimony. (TR, 783-805, 843-848). Counsel also challenged the circumstances of Petitioner's interrogation (TR, 805-807). Throughout his argument, counsel referred to Petitioner's innocence, and the reasonableness of his actions in self-defense. (TR, 783-813). There is very little question that defense counsel did anything but concede Petitioner's guilt.

- 10 -

Furthermore, Petitioner's sole reference to counsel's alleged concession of his client's guilt, is not borne out by the Record. In referring to the possibility of crimes other than first-degree murder, which were to be given to the jury in the trial court's instructions, defense counsel argued that, assuming the State's evidence in its best possible light, a crime other than first-degree murder might have been shown, but additionally was not actually proven because of Petitioner's acts in self-defense. (TR, 811). In his subsequent argument, defense counsel reiterated that Petitioner was not guilty of felony murder, because he did not intend to commit a robbery. (TR, 843, 849). Because defense counsel focused upon Petitioner's lack of intent to rob or steal, Petitioner's notations cannot be reasonably read, in isolation let alone in the context of the <u>entire</u> closing argument as properly placed in perspective by the trial court, as concessions of guilt. (TR, 811, 843, 849).

Thus, Petitioner's argument before this Court, challenging the sufficiency of the Record to support the District Court's affirmance of trial court's denial of relief, is baseless. Petitioner's reliance on out-of-state authorities, to support a legal conclusion not supported by the facts as considered by both the trial court and District Court, appears to constitute a selective ignorance of the <u>entirety</u> of defense counsel's argument, which conclusively demonstrates that Petitioner is not entitled to relief. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 468 U.S. 668 (1984); <u>Porter</u>; Middleton, supra.

Petitioner has maintained that there was an insufficient Record, upon which the trial court or District Court could properly base their rulings. It is evident that the trial court reviewed all trial tran-

- 11 -

scripts of Petitioner's trial, including defense counsel's closing argument, in denying the claim, since this fact is <u>expressly stated</u> in the trial court's order. (R, at 37). Nevertheless, Petitioner suggests that the Fourth District's review was necessarily incomplete, without attachments of those aspects of the Record which rebutted his claim, or resort to the transcript of an evidentiary hearing. Since the trial court's order clearly reflected review of the trial transcript, and a conclusion based on same that Petitioner was not entitled to relief, such review and resolution by the Fourth District was based on a sufficient Record. Rule 3.850 (1983), supra; Middleton.<sup>3</sup>

While this case appears to present an <u>initial</u> application of harmless error analysis to a <u>Morgan</u>-type technical procedural error, the same public policy considerations supporting the application of harmless error in other factual contexts, support the use of such analysis herein. As in <u>Palmes</u> and <u>Recinos</u>, <u>supra</u>, and by state statute (§924.33), the effect of the trial court's direction of a state collateral response herein should not result in reversal or remand, when it is evident that this procedural error had no prejudicial impact on the trial court's resolution of Petitioner's post-conviction motion. §924.33; <u>Palmes</u>, at 654; <u>Recinos</u>, at 98. Because the trial court's order denying relief was not based upon or affected at all by any improper consideration of the State's position on Petitioner's post-conviction motion, because such response was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Respondent will not address the merits of the Fourth District's ruling, as to the trial court's denial of Petitioner's second ground for postconviction relief, on sequestration of the jury, because Petitioner has not raised same.

<u>non-existent</u>, despite being ordered, harmless error analysis is as appropriate in this context, as in the context of improper prosecutorial comments. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1135-1138 (Fla. 1986); <u>State</u> <u>v. Murray</u>, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984); <u>United States v. Hasting</u>, 461 U.S. 499 (1983); <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18 (1967). Thus, the Fourth District's application of harmless error analysis, as authorized by §924.33, <u>supra</u>, was appropriate and correct, in determining that, in the context of the entire post-conviction and trial proceedings, Petitioner's rights to a fair trial were not violated. <u>DiGuilio</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 1135; Hasting, supra.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the Record, and the foregoing arguments and authorities, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court AFFIRM the Fourth District's ruling, in all respects.